A ANNUAL REVIEWS

Annual Review of Nutrition Genetics of Sleep and Insights into Its Relationship with Obesity

Hassan S. Dashti^{1,2} and José M. Ordovás^{3,4}

¹Center for Genomic Medicine and Department of Anesthesia, Critical Care and Pain Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts 02114, USA; email: hassan.dashti@mgh.harvard.edu

²Broad Institute, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02142, USA

³Nutrition and Genomics Laboratory, JM-USDA Human Nutrition Research Center on Aging at Tufts University, Boston, Massachusetts 02111, USA

⁴Precision Nutrition and Obesity Program, IMDEA Alimentación, 28049 Madrid, Spain

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2021. 41:223-52

First published as a Review in Advance on June 8, 2021

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at nutr.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-082018-124258

Copyright © 2021 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved



www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

sleep, obesity, genetics, adiposity, genome-wide association studies, *FTO*, Mendelian randomization, gene–environment interactions, genetic epidemiology

Abstract

Considerable recent advancements in elucidating the genetic architecture of sleep traits and sleep disorders may provide insight into the relationship between sleep and obesity. Despite the involvement of the circadian clock in sleep and metabolism, few shared genes, including FTO, were implicated in genome-wide association studies (GWASs) of sleep and obesity. Polygenic scores composed of signals from GWASs of sleep traits show largely null associations with obesity, suggesting lead variants are unique to sleep. Modest genome-wide genetic correlations are observed between many sleep traits and obesity and are largest for snoring. Notably, U-shaped positive genetic correlations with body mass index (BMI) exist for both short and long sleep durations. Findings from Mendelian randomization suggest robust causal effects of insomnia on higher BMI and, conversely, of higher BMI on snoring and daytime sleepiness. In addition, bidirectional effects between sleep duration and daytime napping with obesity may also exist. Limited gene-sleep interaction studies suggest that achieving favorable sleep, as part of a healthy lifestyle, may attenuate genetic predisposition to obesity, but whether these improvements produce clinically meaningful reductions in obesity risk remains unclear. Investigations of the genetic link between sleep and obesity for sleep disorders other than insomnia and in populations of non-European ancestry are currently limited.

Contents

OVERVIEW OF SLEEP	224
Sleep Is a Fundamental Pillar of Health	224
What Is Sleep?	225
Sleep Architecture Across the Life Span	225
GENETICS OF SLEEP AND OBESITY	226
Sleep Duration	226
Other Sleep Traits	226
Objective Measures of Sleep	229
Sleep Disorders	229
Obesity	230
THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SLEEP AND OBESITY	230
Epidemiological Evidence of the Link Between Sleep and Obesity	230
Tissue Enrichment of Sleep- and Obesity-Implicated Genes	231
Genomic Loci Implicated in Both Sleep Traits and Obesity	231
Lead GWAS Signals for Sleep and Obesity	232
Sleep-Obesity Cross-Trait Genome-Wide Genetic Correlations	235
Causal Links Between Sleep and Obesity Through Mendelian Randomization	235
Sleep Disorders and Obesity	239
GENE-SLEEP INTERACTION STUDIES OF OBESITY	239
The Role of Gene–Environment Interactions in Precision Medicine	239
Studies of Gene-Sleep Interaction in Adults	240
Studies of Gene-Sleep Interaction in Children	241
Uncovering Missing Heritability of Obesity with Gene-Sleep	
Interaction Studies	241
Current Limitations of and Future Considerations for Gene-Sleep	
Interaction Studies	242
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	243
Multidimensional Sleep Phenotyping	243
Unraveling Subtypes of Sleep Architecture and Heterogeneity	
in Sleep Disorders	243
Acute versus Chronic Effects of Sleep on Obesity	243
Advancing Toward Precision Medicine	244
CONCLUSIONS	245

OVERVIEW OF SLEEP

Sleep Is a Fundamental Pillar of Health

Sleep is a critical component of healthy development and overall well-being in humans (11, 55). Healthy sleep is multidimensional and includes adequate duration, good quality, appropriate

timing, and the absence of sleep disorders (19). Despite its large societal burden in terms of morbidity and mortality (138), sleep remains an underrecognized determinant of health. Chronic sleep insufficiency is a global concern in industrialized societies and affects 1 in 3 adult Americans (74). Habitual short sleep duration has been associated with adverse health outcomes, including obesity (14, 94, 101, 136), type 2 diabetes (13), cardiovascular disease (18), and all-cause mortality (138). Sleep deprivation is also associated with daytime sleepiness, fatigue, depressed mood, and overall poor daytime functioning (128). Common sleep disorders such as insomnia and obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) are also associated with reduced quality of life and increased morbidity and mortality (67, 81). Their prevalence, currently estimated between 10% and 20% in the United States, is increasing owing to societal changes and, in the case of OSA, in parallel with the increasing prevalence of obesity levels (59, 84, 98). The American Academy of Sleep Medicine and the Sleep Research Society have summarized the evidence linking favorable sleep and overall health to highlight sleep's role as a fundamental pillar of health (5, 79).

What Is Sleep?

Sleep occupies almost one-third of our lives, yet its precise definition and role remain somewhat ambiguous. Sleep has been defined (27, 90, 97) as (a) a reversible behavioral state of perceptual disengagement and unresponsiveness to the environment; (b) the naturally recurring state of rest during which consciousness of the world is suspended; (c) a reversible behavioral state of decreased responsiveness and interaction with the environment; and (d) a readily reversible suspension of sensorimotor interactions with the environment, usually associated with recumbence and immobility. Definitions have been further expanded to include the main electrophysiological hallmarks of human sleep, such as slow-wave sleep and paradoxical or rapid eye movement sleep, highlighting that sleep is not simply a state of rest but also a period of heightened brain activity (106). Indeed, there are times during sleep when the brain is more active than it is during wakefulness.

From an evolutionary perspective, all animal species exhibit sleep or sleep-like states, suggesting its importance for survival (11, 55). The importance of sleep is evidenced by the following: (*a*) It occurs in all multicellular animals, suggesting universal functionality; (*b*) during the sleep state, an organism is unable to respond to external threats, suggesting a critical benefit to be gained from sleeping; (*c*) there exists a homeostatic drive that regulates sleep in a manner similar to that for other critical behaviors such as thirst; and (*d*) complete sleep deprivation leads to death. The exact functions of sleep remain unknown (66). In humans, sleep has been implicated in the maintenance of normal bodily functions, including central nervous system repair and clearance of neural waste products through the glymphatic system; recovery from physical activities and growth and repair of body tissues; learning and processing of memory; maintenance of attention and concentration; and optimal immune performance.

Sleep Architecture Across the Life Span

Sleep architecture changes with age (95). Changes include a decrease in sleep efficiency, earlier sleep timing, and decreased percentage of rapid eye movement and slow-wave sleep and a related increase in the remaining nonrapid eye movement stages of sleep (95). There is no evidence of significant changes to these measurements after the age of 60 (95). General sleep guidelines exist and serve as key tools for education, surveillance, and guidance for intervention strategies. Sleep recommendations in the United States were last issued in 2015 by the National Sleep Foundation (47). Sleep duration recommendations included 12 to 15 h for infants, 9 to 11 h for school-aged children, and 7 to 9 h for adults. However, the precise optimal amount of sleep may vary from person to person.

GENETICS OF SLEEP AND OBESITY

Between 2015 and 2020, major advances in large-scale biorepositories and genetic analyses, such as genome-wide association studies (GWASs), have enabled the discovery of common genetic variants that contribute to complex heritable traits and diseases related to sleep (summarized in **Table 1**) and obesity.

Sleep Duration

Duration is the most commonly investigated sleep dimension among genetic studies of sleep. The heritability of sleep duration ranges between 31% and 55% in twin- and family-based studies (28, 37, 99). Prior to GWASs, candidate gene association studies focused on core clock genes because of the central role of the circadian machinery in sleep regulation (111). Clock genes, including *CLOCK* and *ARNTL*, are required for the coordinated regulation of circadian rhythms (9). Candidate gene studies of adults, and a few of children, have identified some associations between core clock genes, particularly *CLOCK*, *RORA*, and *DEC2*, and sleep duration, as well as timing and quality, in diverse populations (3, 45, 87, 91, 105, 112).

Since 2007, successive waves of GWASs have been conducted for sleep duration, highlighting its polygenic nature. The first GWAS was of 749 adults from the Sleep Heart Health Study (40). Although the study did not identify signals for sleep duration, it implicated circadian-related genes, including CSNK2A2 and PROK2, for sleep timing and daytime sleepiness (40). A GWAS including over 4,000 adults from seven European cohorts identified a genetic variant for sleep duration near ABCC9 encoding an adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-sensitive potassium channel (1). A larger GWAS meta-analysis composed of 18 population-based cohorts totaling 47,180 adults identified two loci for sleep duration, including PAX8, in which each copy of the minor allele was associated with 3.1-min-longer sleep duration (39). PAX8 was further implicated in sleep duration by another GWAS from the UK Biobank (https://www.ukbiobank.ac.uk/) that included ~150,000 adults (57). PAX8 is a widely expressed transcription factor that plays an essential role in thyroid development (57). The largest GWAS of sleep duration to date is from the UK Biobank and encompasses 446,118 adults of European ancestry (23). In total, 78 genetic variants were identified for self-reported sleep duration, accounting for 0.69% of the variance. Findings were partially validated with accelerometer-derived objective measures of sleep duration and replicated in an independent study from the Cohorts for Heart and Aging Research in Genomic Epidemiology (CHARGE) consortium (23). The largest effect size remained at the PAX8 locus, with an estimate of 2.44 min per effect allele. Considering the nonlinear U-shaped relationship between sleep duration and health outcomes, GWASs of short and long sleep durations have also been conducted (23, 57), identifying 27 and 8 loci, respectively (23). The variants partly overlapped with continuous sleep duration, suggesting some shared and distinct biological mechanisms (23, 30). Only one GWAS of sleep duration in children has been conducted so far (n = 10,554), identifying one variant located in an intronic region of ARAP1 (82).

Other Sleep Traits

Diurnal preference, or chronotype, is the behavioral manifestation of the circadian clock and is another heritable sleep trait, with heritability estimates of 12% to 42% based on twin and family studies (69). Two studies leveraged interim data releases from the UK Biobank (up to n = 128,266 participants of European ancestry) and responses to a question on morning or evening preference and identified 16 (57) and 12 (69) loci. As expected, the GWASs implicated known components of the circadian clock machinery, including *PER2*. Separately, in a cohort from

	Phenotype		Number	SNP-based			
Trait	definition	Cohort (n)	of loci	heritability (%)	Notable genes	Reference	
Self-reported sleep traits							
Sleep duration	Continuous hours of	UK Biobank (446,	78	9.8	PAX8, FTO, FADS1,	23	
	24-h sleep	118)			FADS2, FOXP2,		
	duration				KSR2		
Short sleep duration	Sleep duration <7 h	UK Biobank	27	7.9	PAX8, SLC39A8,	23	
	versus sleep	(106,192 cases;			FOXP2		
	duration between /	305,/42 controls)					
T 1 1		THZ D: 1 1 (24 104	0	4.7	DAVO ETO	22	
Long sleep duration	Sleep duration ≥ 9 h	UK Biobank (34,184	8	4./	PAX8, FIO	23	
	duration between 7	cases; 505,742					
	and 8 h	controis)					
Sleep duration	Hours of sleep per	EAGLE Consortium	1	14.0	ARAP1	82	
(children)	day, including naps	(10,554)	1	11.0		02	
Diurnal preference	Morning or night	UK Biobank +	351	13.7	ARNTL, HCRTR2,	56	
(chronotype)	person	23andMe			PER1, PER2,		
	-	(697,828)			PER3, MADD		
Daytime napping	Frequency of naps	UK Biobank	123	11.9	KSR2, HCRTR2,	19	
	during the day	(452,633)			PATJ, BTBD9,		
					MTNR1B		
Daytime sleepiness	Frequency of	UK Biobank	42	6.9	KSR2, PATJ,	128	
	unintentional	(452,071)			HCRTR2,		
	dozing off or				SLC39A8, BTBD9		
	falling asleep						
	during the day						
Ease of getting up	Ease of getting up in	UK Biobank	62	7.1	HCRTR2, RGS16,	53	
	the morning	(385,949)			PER3, FTO	1.0	
Snoring	Complaints about	UK Biobank	42	9.9	DLEU7, MSRB3,	12	
	snoring	(408,000)			POCS, FTO		
Objectively derived	sleep measures	1 HZ D: 1 1	12	10	DAVO MENCI	50	
Sleep duration	Nocturnal sleep	UK Biobank	12	19	PAX8, MEISI,	58	
<u></u>		(85,502)	0	2.0	KUNHD, DBID	50	
Sleep duration	in clean duration	UK Biobank	0	2.8	INA	58	
Number of clean	Number of clean	(65,000)	21	22.2	ADOF CDD120	50	
enisodes	houts during the	(85 502)	21	22.3	RANKI	50	
episodes	night sleep period	(05,502)					
Davtime inactivity	Total daily duration	UK Biobank	2	14.8	KCNH5	58	
duration	outside the sleep	(85,502)	2	11.0	MPDZ/NFIB	50	
	period	(,)					
Sleep midpoint	Midpoint between	UK Biobank	1	10.1	CAB39	58	
F F	the start and the	(85,502)					
	end of the sleep						
	period						

Table 1 Summary of large-scale (n > 50,000) GWASs for sleep traits and sleep disorders

(Continued)

Table 1	(Continued)	ſ
Table I	(Communa)	

	Phenotype		Number	SNP-based		
Trait	definition	Cohort (n)	of loci	heritability (%)	Notable genes	Reference
M10 timing	Timing of the most	UK Biobank	1	8.7	CPNE8, ALG10B	58
	active 10 h;	(85,723)				
	measure of sleep					
	midpoint					
L5 timing	Timing of the least	UK Biobank	6	11.7	MEIS1, BTBD9,	58
	active 5 h; measure	(85,830)			RGS16, ALG10B	
	of sleep midpoint					
Sleep efficiency	Sleep duration	UK Biobank	5	13	PAX8, MEIS1,	58
	divided by the time	(85,502)			PDE11A	
	between the start					
	and the end of the					
	first and last					
	nocturnal					
	inactivity period,					
<u> </u>	respectively					
Sleep disorders	1	1			1	
Insomnia	Trouble falling asleep	UK Biobank +	202	7.0	PAX8, MEIS1,	53
	at night or waking	23andMe			BTBD9	
	up in the middle of	(1,331,010)				
	the night					
Restless legs	Diagnosis of restless	EU-RLS GENE,	19	19.6	MEIS1, C1D,	109
syndrome	legs syndrome	INTERVAL,			BTBD9	
		23andMe (15,126				
		cases; 95,725				
		controls)				

For traits and disorders for which multiple GWASs were conducted, only the largest study to date is listed. Full GWAS summary statistics can be downloaded from the Sleep Disorder Knowledge Portal (https://sleep.hugeamp.org/).

Abbreviations: GWAS, genome-wide association study; NA, not applicable; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism.

23andMe (a personal genomic testing company) (n = 489,283), up to 15 variants, including 7 near genes with well-established roles in circadian rhythms (49), were identified. Building on these findings is the largest GWAS of morning preference to date, encompassing 697,828 UK Biobank and 23andMe participants and identifying 351 genetic variants (56). Identified loci were enriched for circadian clock regulatory genes, including *PER1*, *CRY1*, and *ARNTL*. The specificity of these loci was validated by robust associations of the variants with accelerometer-derived measures of sleep timing but not sleep duration or quality.

Daytime napping, another common and heritable behavior (~65% from twin studies), is characterized by short sleep episodes during the day (20). A GWAS including 452,633 UK Biobank participants identified 123 loci, explaining 1.1% of the trait variance (20). The loci were consistent in an independent data set from a 23andMe cohort and showed specific associations with accelerometer-derived measures of daytime inactivity duration. Excessive daytime sleepiness is a common symptom affecting 10–20% of the population primarily due to chronic insufficient sleep and is associated with motor vehicle accidents and impaired social functioning (128). The estimated heritability for daytime sleepiness ranges between 0.38% and 0.48%, and a GWAS of 452,071 UK Biobank participants identified 42 loci (128). A polygenic score for daytime sleepiness—a score that aggregates multiple genetic variants predictive of daytime sleepiness and thus provides a quantitative measure of genetic susceptibility—was associated with sleep disorders, including restless legs syndrome (RLS) and insomnia, and other sleep traits, including sleep duration, sleep timing, sleep efficiency, and daytime napping. Among 385,949 European adults from the UK Biobank, a GWAS of ease of getting up in the morning identified 62 genomic loci (53). There exist several shared loci, including *HCRTR2*, for daytime napping, daytime sleepiness, and ease of getting up (20, 53, 128). Snoring is the vibration of the upper airway structures that creates noise during sleep, and is more prevalent in males (\sim 35–45%) than in females (15–28%) (12). Approximately 18–28% of the variance in snoring may be accounted for by genetic factors based on twin and family studies, and a GWAS has implicated 42 loci (12).

Subjective sleep quality, latency, efficiency, and disturbance, other dimensions of sleep, are also heritable (28, 37, 99). Using the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index in a multi-ethnic discovery cohort (n = 2,868), Khoury et al. (62) estimated the heritability of sleep quality to be 14.37% (34–37% in twin studies) and identified two novel loci on chromosomes 2 and 7.

Objective Measures of Sleep

Although most large-scale genetic studies have relied on self-reported data, objectively estimated sleep measures from accelerometers, actigraphy, and polysomnography have been analyzed. Objective methods for sleep assessment can robustly phenotype sleep dimensions that are more difficult to derive from surveys. The first GWAS of sleep to use wearable technology investigated 11 parameters derived from actigraphy in 956 adults from the LIFE Adult Study (116). This study identified several novel variants near candidate genes, including *UFL1* and *CSNK2A1*. Another GWAS showed that *ARNTL* was associated with polysomnography-estimated sleep duration (64). In the UK Biobank, ~103,000 participants were fitted with wrist-worn accelerometers for up to 7 days and two parallel studies assessed the genetics of objectively derived estimates of sleep (30, 58). In the first study, 47 signals were identified for 8 sleep parameters, including measures of quality, timing, duration, and the number of nocturnal sleep episodes. Of the 47 signals, 36 variants were not detected in previous GWASs of self-reported sleep traits (58). The second study identified 14 loci, of which 7, including *MAPKAP1* and *AUTS21*, were novel for sleep duration (30).

Sleep Disorders

Insomnia occurs in 10–20% of the population and is characterized by persistent difficulty initiating or maintaining sleep and consequent daytime dysfunction (67). Family studies have estimated that insomnia heritability ranges between 22% and 25% (67). An initial genetic analysis of insomnia complaints in the UK Biobank (n = 113,006) identified 3 loci, including *MEIS1*, a locus previously implicated in RLS (43). The largest UK Biobank GWAS of insomnia includes 453,379 participants and identified 57 loci for self-reported insomnia symptoms, which were validated using physician-diagnosed insomnia in independent cohorts (67). Polygenic scores of the 57 loci were associated with accelerometer-derived measures of lower sleep quality and shorter sleep duration and greater day-to-day variability in sleep duration (67). The largest GWAS of insomnia complaints so far includes 1,331,010 adults and identified 202 risk loci, explaining 2.6% of the phenotypic variance (53). The lead signal was for *BTBD9*, another locus implicated in RLS. Despite crude phenotyping based on self-report, 163 risk loci were specific to insomnia and only 39 risk loci were associated with other sleep traits (53). In addition, a multitrait GWAS of sleep disturbance that encompassed insomnia symptoms, sleep duration, and daytime sleepiness from the UK Biobank (n = 112,586) identified 9 loci, including *PAX8, MEIS1, HCRTR2*, and *INADL* (68).

The genetic basis of other primary sleep disorders, including OSA, RLS, and narcolepsy, is less studied. OSA is a heritable and common sleep disorder affecting up to 34% of men and

17% of women and is characterized by recurrent upper airway obstruction during sleep (10, 104). OSA often leads to fragmented sleep and recurrent episodes of chronic intermittent hypoxia. A GWAS including 12,558 Hispanic American adults investigated OSA-associated traits, including the apnea-hypopnea index, a biomarker of OSA that estimates the number of episodes of breathing obstruction per hour of sleep, and identified two loci, GPR83 and C6ORF183/CCDC162P(10). Notably, a correlation of up to 0.78 between the genetics of OSA and snoring is observed, providing further insight into the genetic architecture of OSA (12). Larger genetic studies of OSA are ongoing (89). RLS is a neurological disorder involving involuntary and regularly occurring limb movements that disrupt sleep and delay onset of sleep (109). Prevalence of RLS varies widely across populations, and heritability estimates range from 50% to 60% based on family and twin studies. A large GWAS included 15,126 cases and 95,725 controls of European ancestry and identified 19 loci, including MEIS1, with odds ratio estimates of 1.82 to 2.16 (109). MEIS1 has also been implicated in insomnia and in objective estimates of sleep quality. Other RLS loci, such as C1D and BTBD9, have also been implicated in sleep timing. Narcolepsy is characterized by excessive daytime sleepiness and cataplexy with onset as early as adolescence. GWASs of patients with narcolepsy have implicated TCR (42), a T cell receptor α locus, and CPT1B (88), an enzyme involved in long-chain fatty acid β-oxidation in muscle mitochondria.

Obesity

Obesity and body weight are heritable traits partly determined by a highly polygenic genetic architecture and partly influenced by lifestyle and environment (7). Approximately 40-70% of variation in body mass index (BMI) is attributed to genetic differences (32). Various genes have been associated with monogenic, syndromic, and polygenic forms of obesity (6). Genes identified in early candidate gene association studies included LEPR, which encodes a receptor for the hormone leptin that regulates energy balance and body weight, and *PPARG*. The first identified obesitysusceptibility locus from GWASs was in the first intron of the fat-mass- and obesity-associated FTO gene (33). This locus has the largest effect on BMI and is associated with a higher BMI of \sim 0.39 kg/m² and an approximate 1.20-fold-higher risk of obesity per effect allele (78). The cluster of correlated variants in this locus regulates the expression of two upstream genes, IRX3 and IRX5, both of which influence adipocyte browning and food intake (86). Larger GWASs have implicated additional common variants in genes including MC4R that also have established roles in fat mass, weight, and obesity risk (77, 121, 133). In 2015, a large GWAS by the Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits (GIANT) consortium using data from 339,224 adults identified 97 BMI-associated variants, accounting for 2.7% of BMI variation (75). These variants are involved in diverse biological pathways, including fatty acid storage, glucose metabolism, and satiety (75). A genome-wide polygenic score integrating all 2.1 million common variants from the GWAS by GIANT was associated with an over-fourfold-higher risk of obesity and a higher risk of cardiometabolic disease and mortality (60). Larger GWASs of BMI and other adiposity traits by the GIANT consortium remain ongoing and have thus far identified over 900 BMI-related genetic variants (137).

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SLEEP AND OBESITY

Epidemiological Evidence of the Link Between Sleep and Obesity

Many cross-sectional and longitudinal epidemiologic studies, both of children and adults (14, 94, 101, 136) and across different ancestries and geographical environments (29, 108),

suggest that short and long sleep durations are risk factors for obesity and consequently many other cardiometabolic diseases. The epidemiological evidence indicates that the association between sleep duration and obesity is more robust in children than in adults and that the effect size decreases with age. Other studies have shown no significant associations between sleep and anthropometric measures (118). In addition, few studies have investigated sleep dimensions other than duration and examined the impact of obesity on sleep (rather than sleep on obesity).

Leveraging data on the genetic architecture of sleep and obesity from recent GWASs may delineate the relationship between sleep traits and sleep disorders and adiposity while limiting both bias and confounding from traditional epidemiological studies. The application of novel post-GWAS approaches may also provide insight into distinct gene overlaps, overall genetic correlations, and, through Mendelian randomization, bidirectional causal effects.

Tissue Enrichment of Sleep- and Obesity-Implicated Genes

The coexpression of genes for both sleep and obesity in the same brain regions suggests their potential genetic overlap. Tissue enrichment analyses of gene expression from various GWASs of sleep have implicated the cerebellum, frontal cortex, and hypothalamus (20, 23, 58, 67). These regions are also of emerging importance in adiposity. Indeed, processes related to appetite, homeostasis, reward, and motivation are key to BMI regulation and are controlled by the central nervous system (75, 117).

Genomic Loci Implicated in Both Sleep Traits and Obesity

Considering the dual role of the biological clock in regulating sleep and body weight, as well as metabolic mediators such as leptin and ghrelin (110), it is expected that there exist some shared genetic links between sleep and obesity. These genetic overlaps were previously investigated in candidate gene association studies. Transcription factors encoded by *CLOCK* and other circadian genes play key roles in regulating sleep and various metabolic pathways across multiple tissues (122). Animal studies have shown that *clock* mutant mice have increased body weight, strengthening the potential direct connection between sleep and weight (122). In candidate gene studies of humans, several common *CLOCK* variants, most commonly rs1801260, have shown some associations with BMI, ghrelin, weight loss success, and other adiposity-related traits (3, 35, 115, 125). The association of the circadian clock with various pathologies, including obesity, may involve its effect on sleep duration. In addition, *NR1D1* was also associated with both sleep duration and BMI in adolescent boys (91). Candidate gene association studies of OSA in a Chinese Han cohort also implicated variants in *LEPR* (71).

Building on findings from candidate gene studies, results from GWASs further implicated distinct genomic loci in both sleep and obesity. Among the GWAS signals for obesity, *FTO* most consistently shows associations with sleep traits such as sleep duration, morning preference, ease of getting up, and snoring (see **Figure 1**). Several other obesity loci were also identified in GWASs of sleep, as indicated in **Figure 2**, and include *SLC39A8*, *HCRTR2*, and *PATJ*. *ARAP1*, which encodes a protein associated with the Golgi apparatus and apoptosis, was implicated in both sleep and obesity in a GWAS of children (85). Other sleep variants implicated in key obesity-related metabolic pathways include *FADS1* and *FADS2*, which play a role in unsaturated fatty acid metabolism (23); *PNOC*, which is implicated in feeding behavior (44) and lipid metabolism (20); and the metabolic gene *GCKR* (128). However, most lead GWAS signals for sleep traits are not obesity related (see **Figure 3**).



Obesity-associated *FTO* genetic variant associations with sleep traits from GWASs. Effect estimates for *FTO*-rs9939609 on sleep outcomes were retrieved from summary statistics published in the primary manuscript or from the Sleep Disorder Knowledge Portal (https://sleep.hugeamp.org/). Vertical dashed red line denotes genome-wide significance ($P = 5 \times 10^{-8}$). Abbreviations: adj, adjusted; BMI, body mass index; GWAS, genome-wide association study.

Lead GWAS Signals for Sleep and Obesity

Studies have investigated associations between polygenic scores composed of GWAS signals for sleep traits and adiposity outcomes, and vice versa, to determine overall pleiotropy in GWAS signals for sleep and obesity. In an analysis of 119,859 adults of European ancestry from the UK Biobank, an obesity polygenic score composed of 97 BMI variants was not associated with sleep duration, daytime napping, or diurnal preference (16). In agreement, other investigations found no associations between a polygenic score for obesity and diurnal preference (69) or associations between a polygenic score for diurnal preference and waist circumference (126) and BMI (49, 69). In another study including 112,586 adults from the UK Biobank, a polygenic score for obesity composed of 95 BMI single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) was associated with higher daytime sleepiness but not with insomnia symptoms (68). In children, no associations were evident between a polygenic score for BMI composed of six leptin-related loci and other common SNPs in obesity genes, including *FTO*, *TMEM18*, and *NRXN3*, and sleep duration (34, 102). Null associations in most studies of healthy children and adults suggest that sleep and obesity GWAS variants are largely distinct.

On the contrary, studies of patient cohorts indicate that polygenic scores for sleep traits may be associated with clinically determined obesity. In a disease-enriched electronic health record clinical biobank, polygenic scores for sleep duration and daytime napping were associated with obesity. Specifically, a polygenic score for sleep duration was associated with 9.7% lower odds for obesity (24), and a polygenic score for daytime napping was associated with higher odds for obesity, whereby the top decile of the score was associated with 38% higher odds of obesity compared with the lowest decile (20).

Furthermore, sensitivity analyses of GWASs of sleep accounting for BMI suggest that sleep variants are largely independent of adiposity. With a few exceptions, including FTO, GWASs of



Genes from GWASs of sleep traits that are also implicated in BMI, highlighting genomic loci shared between sleep and obesity. Genomic loci were retrieved from published GWASs of sleep traits and sleep disorders (as listed in **Table 1**) and BMI (from the GIANT consortium meta-analysis of GWASs of BMI in ~700,000 individuals of European ancestry). Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; GIANT, Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits; GWAS, genome-wide association study.

self-reported variables, including sleep duration, diurnal preference, daytime napping, daytime sleepiness, snoring, insomnia, and accelerometer-based sleep measures, have found largely consistent effect estimates for sleep variants after adjusting for BMI (12, 20, 23, 49, 67, 82, 128) (see **Figure 4**). Statistical models further accounting for BMI × BMI or whole-body fat mass resulted in similar findings (12, 20). In addition, although obesity is a significant risk factor for snoring,



Association of lead sleep signals across several sleep traits with BMI, suggesting largely null associations between lead sleep signals and BMI. Lead sleep signals were determined from published GWASs of sleep traits and sleep disorders (as listed in **Table 1**). BMI effect estimates were retrieved from published summary statistics by the GIANT consortium in a meta-analysis of GWASs of BMI in ~700,000 individuals of European ancestry. Vertical dashed red line denotes genome-wide significance ($P = 5 \times 10^{-8}$). Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; GIANT, Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits; GWAS, genome-wide association study.



Figure 4

Genetic effect estimates of lead sleep signals associations with sleep traits without and with BMI adjustment, suggesting that most GWAS sleep signals are largely independent of BMI. Presented variants were identified in GWASs of four sleep traits (daytime napping, insomnia symptoms, sleep duration, and daytime sleepiness). Sleep traits were selected on the basis of published data and effect estimates were retrieved from published GWASs of sleep traits (as listed in **Table 1**). Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; GWAS, genome-wide association study.

large genetic correlations ($r_g > 0.90$) were evident in GWAS models with and without BMI adjustments, supporting the notion that the genetic architecture of snoring is not explained by BMI (12). Accounting for BMI in GWASs may unravel additional obesity-independent sleep-related loci, as has been demonstrated for daytime sleepiness, for which five additional loci were identified only after accounting for BMI (128). Overall, findings from sensitivity analyses of GWASs of sleep suggest minimal influence of BMI on GWAS signals identified for sleep traits.

Sleep-Obesity Cross-Trait Genome-Wide Genetic Correlations

Genetic overlaps between traits can also be inferred from genome-wide genetic correlation analyses (140). Genetic correlations provide the advantage of systematically examining cross-trait relationships that may be underexamined or not well defined in epidemiological studies and within individual cohorts (58). Findings from genetic correlations are often similar to results from phenotypic correlations (114).

All sleep traits and sleep disorders, except for sleep timing variables (e.g., diurnal preference), show some evidence of genome-wide correlations with BMI (e.g., P < 0.05) (see **Figure 5**). The largest correlations with BMI were observed for snoring ($r_g = 0.35$) and daytime sleepiness ($r_g = 0.17$). Negative correlations were observed for accelerometer-derived sleep efficiency ($r_g = -0.16$) and accelerometer-derived sleep duration ($r_g = -0.09$). Notably, U-shaped positive correlations with BMI, as well as with waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio (23), were observed for both short ($r_g = 0.12$) and long ($r_g = 0.08$) sleep durations. No correlations were observed between BMI and self-reported diurnal preference or accelerometer-derived measures of sleep timing, including sleep midpoint, M10 timing, and L5 timing (56). In addition, correlations between daytime napping and daytime sleepiness and BMI were no longer significant after adjusting for BMI in GWAS models (20, 128). Whereas sleep-BMI correlations in adults were largely modest, no correlations were evident in children (20, 67, 82, 85). In addition, earlier findings from smaller GWASs from the UK Biobank were consistent with findings from larger studies (57, 68), with the exception of previously detected positive correlations between morning preference and higher BMI (57, 69) that are no longer supported in larger analyses (56).

Genetic correlations of sleep with other adiposity traits, including body fat, waist-to-hip ratio, and obesity class, were consistent with correlations with BMI. Of all the sleep traits, snoring had the largest positive correlations with other adiposity traits, including class 2 obesity ($r_g = 0.38$), class 1 obesity ($r_g = 0.36$), and overweight ($r_g = 0.35$). Accelerometer-derived sleep efficiency had the largest negative correlations with other adiposity traits, including body fat ($r_g = -0.21$), class 3 obesity ($r_g = -0.20$), and class 1 obesity ($r_g = -0.18$).

Overall, the genetic correlations between sleep and adiposity traits suggest that common genetic vulnerabilities may influence both phenotypes. As polygenic scores do not implicate lead GWAS signals for both sleep and obesity, genetic correlations may instead be attributed to extensive pleiotropy in SNPs weakly associated with both traits (31). Consistent with these observations are earlier bivariate genetic analyses of twin pairs indicating little evidence of shared genetics between sleep duration and BMI (130). Therefore, the moderate genetic correlations detected between sleep and obesity may be mediated by shared environmental factors rather than by genetic effects (85).

Causal Links Between Sleep and Obesity Through Mendelian Randomization

Mendelian randomization (MR) analysis provides a robust and cost-efficient approach to demonstrate temporal relationships and causal pathways between sleep and obesity through genetics (26).



Cross-trait genetic correlations (r_g) between sleep traits and adiposity traits based on genome-wide genetic data. Most sleep traits (self-report and accelerometer) and sleep disorders, except for sleep timing variables (e.g., morning preference), show modest evidence of genome-wide correlations with BMI and other adiposity traits. Correlations with BMI are shown in the forest map; remaining correlations with other adiposity traits are shown in the heatmap. Red indicates positive genetic correlation and blue indicates negative genetic correlation in the heatmap. Genetic correlations are limited to data presented in published genome-wide association studies of sleep traits and sleep disorders (as listed in **Table 1**). Entries for which data are missing are left blank. Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index.

MR exploits the fact that genes are randomly assigned from parents to offspring, which are unlikely to be affected by confounding factors, and that genotypes are fixed at zygote formation and cannot be changed (26).

Overall, there is some evidence from MR of causal effects of sleep traits and sleep disorders on BMI and other adiposity outcomes (**Figure 6**; **Table 2**). There exists a causal link between genetic liability for insomnia and higher BMI and waist-to-hip ratio and between genetic liability for more frequent daytime napping and higher waist circumference (20). There is some evidence based on accelerometer data (30, 58), but not self-report (23), that longer sleep duration may cause higher BMI in adults. In children, MR results suggest potential effects of longer sleep duration on lower childhood BMI (129). For snoring, two-sample, generalized summary-data-based MR supports a potential bidirectional causal relationship with BMI, whereby genetic liability for snoring exerts a causal effect on increased BMI and genetic liability for higher BMI, as well as higher whole-body

Exposure	N SNPs		Beta (95% CI)	P value
Sleep duration	53	' - <mark>e</mark> - '	0.0393 (-0.055, 0.134)	0.42
Sleep duration (accelerometer)	38	•••	0.053 (0.0020, 0.10)	0.04
Sleep efficiency (accelerometer)	3		0.13 (-0.11, 0.37)	0.41
Number of sleep episodes (accelerometer)	5	-0	0.19 (0.07, 0.31)	0.04
L5 timing (accelerometer)	3		0.12 (-0.15, 0.38)	0.48
Daytime napping	73		0.211 (0.022, 0.40)	0.03
Morning preference (chronotype)	256		-0.012 (-0.053, 0.030)	0.59
Snoring	10		3.357 (-0.172, 6.885)	0.06
Daytime sleepiness	23		0.199 (–0.332, 0.731)	0.46
Daytime sleepiness (BMI adj.)	27	D	0.198 (-0.261, 0.656)	0.40
Insomnia	87	-0-	0.36 (0.262, 0.458)	1.25×10^{-12}
	-1.0	-0.5 0 0.5 1.0	0	

Outcome	N SNPs		Beta (95% CI)	P value
Sleep duration	NR		0.014 (-0.042, 0.071)	0.63
Short sleep duration	NR	← ■	-0.15 (-0.29, -0.009)	0.04
Long sleep duration	NR		0.043 (-0.1256, 0.212)	0.62
Sleep duration (accelerometer)	73		-0.09 (-0.15, -0.02)	0.008
Sleep duration variation (accelerometer)	76		0.06 (0.01, 0.1)	0.012
Sleep efficiency (accelerometer)	76		-0.02 (-0.08, 0.04)	0.47
Number of sleep episodes (accelerometer)	70		-0.04 (-0.1, 0.01)	0.15
Sleep midpoint (accelerometer)	76		-0.02 (-0.08, 0.03)	0.38
Diurnal inactivity duration (accelerometer)	74		0.01 (-0.04, 0.07)	0.68
L5 timing (accelerometer)	76		-0.01 (-0.07, 0.05)	0.76
M10 timing (accelerometer)	74	_	-0.07 (-0.13, -0.02)	0.006
Morning preference (chronotype)	76		0.060 (0.002, 0.118)	0.046
Morning preference (exc. FTO)	75		0.017 (-0.04, 0.07)	0.56
Daytime napping	90		0.027 (0.001, 0.052)	0.04
Daytime sleepiness	NR	•	0.018 (0.008, 0.028)	4.00×10^{-4}
Snoring (males)	150		0.010 (0.007, 0.013)	5.27×10^{-10}
Snoring (females)	122		0.013 (0.009, 0.017)	$7.67 imes 10^{-13}$
Insomnia	76		0.01 (-0.0096, 0.0296)	0.42
	-	-0.2 -0.1 0 0.1 0.2	2	
		Beta		

Sleep on BMI

BMI on sleep

Figure 6

Bidirectional causal relationships between sleep traits and sleep disorders and BMI using Mendelian randomization. Mendelian randomization effect estimates are from inverse-variance-weighted models, estimates for insomnia and snoring are from generalized summary-statistics-based Mendelian randomization analysis, and estimates for accelerometer-derived sleep duration are from the maximum-likelihood method. Beta is the estimated directional effect of the exposure trait on the outcome trait per unit of exposure (if continuous) or log odds ratio for case/control traits. Positive beta indicates positive causal effects. N SNPs is the number of single nucleotide polymorphisms used as an instrumental variable. BMI effect estimates are derived from the meta-analysis by the GIANT consortium. Data presented are from published genome-wide association studies of sleep traits and sleep disorders (as listed in **Table 1**). Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; GIANT, Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits; NR, not reported.

Table 2 Bidirectional causal relationship of sleep traits and sleep disorders with adiposity traits using Mendelian randomization^a

Exposure	Outcome	N SNPs	Beta (95% CI)	P value	Reference		
Sleep on adiposity							
Daytime napping	Waist circumference	73	0.282 (0.11, 0.453)	0.001	19		
Daytime napping	Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	75	0.185 (0.038, 0.331)	0.01	19		
Insomnia	Waist-to-hip ratio	94	0.29 (0.1724, 0.4076)	1.58×10^{-7}	53		
L5 timing, accelerometer	Body fat %	3	-0.24 (-0.59, 0.12)	0.32	58		
L5 timing, accelerometer	Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	3	-0.07 (-0.25, 0.11)	0.53	58		
Number of sleep episodes, accelerometer	Body fat %	5	0.2 (-0.02, 0.42)	0.15	58		
Number of sleep episodes, accelerometer	Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	5	0.1 (-0.03, 0.24)	0.21	58		
Sleep duration	Obesity (clinically determined)	NR	0.995 (0.987, 1.003)	0.242	24		
Sleep duration, accelerometer	Body fat %	38	0.071 (-0.003, 0.145)	0.058	30		
Sleep duration, accelerometer	Waist-to-hip ratio	38	-0.007 (-0.0776, 0.0636)	0.836	30		
Sleep efficiency, accelerometer	Body fat %	3	0.1 (-0.26, 0.46)	0.64	58		
Snoring (females)	Whole-body fat %	10	3.395841 (-2.637, 9.42)	0.27	12		
Adiposity on sleep							
Waist circumference	Daytime napping	46	0.03 (-0.007, 0.067)	0.11	19		
Waist-to-hip ratio	Insomnia	34	-0.03 (-0.0496, -0.0104)	7.16×10^{-3}	53		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	Daytime napping	46	0.03 (0.007, 0.052)	0.01	19		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	L5 timing	53	-0.02 (-0.07, 0.04)	0.55	58		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	M10 timing	53	-0.04 (-0.09, 0.01)	0.17	58		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	Sleep duration	53	-0.14 (-0.19, -0.08)	5.03×10^{-6}	58		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	Sleep duration variation	53	0.07 (0.02, 0.12)	0.01	58		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	Sleep midpoint	53	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)	0.80	58		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	Sleep efficiency	50	-0.12 (-0.18, -0.06)	2.73×10^{-4}	58		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	Number of sleep episodes	52	0.02 (-0.04, 0.07)	0.60	58		
Waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI)	Diurnal inactivity	53	-0.01 (-0.07, 0.06)	0.83	58		
Whole-body fat (females)	Snoring (males)	140	0.0054 (0.0039, 0.007)	1.28×10^{-11}	12		
Whole-body fat (males)	Snoring (females)	109	0.0054 (0.0035, 0.0074)	2.90×10^{-8}	12		

^aMendelian randomization effect estimates are from inverse-variance-weighted models, estimates for insomnia and snoring are from generalized summary-statistics-based Mendelian randomization analysis, and estimates for accelerometer-derived sleep duration are from the maximum-likelihood method. Data included are from published genome-wide association studies of sleep (as listed in Table 1). Adiposity trait effect estimates are derived from the meta-analysis by the GIANT consortium. Beta is the estimated directional effect of the exposure trait on the outcome trait per unit of exposure (if continuous) or log odds ratio for case/control traits. Positive beta indicates positive causal effects. *N* SNPs is the number of SNPs used as an instrumental variable.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; GIANT, Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits; GSMR, generalized summary Mendelian randomization; NR, not reported; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism.

fat mass, exerts a causal effect on snoring (12). However, only the relationships between BMI and whole-body fat mass causing snoring retained significance after accounting for multiple testing. Last, there is no evidence from MR on causal effects of diurnal preference (56, 57, 69) and daytime sleepiness (128) on BMI.

Conversely, there is also some evidence from MR of potential causal effects of adiposity traits on sleep architecture. In addition to snoring (12), genetic liability for higher BMI was causally associated with increased daytime sleepiness (128), and genetic liability for higher waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI) was nominally associated with increased frequency of daytime napping (20). In addition, genetic liability for higher waist-to-hip ratio (adjusted for BMI) was causally associated with shorter sleep duration and lower sleep efficiency estimated from accelerometer data (58).

As findings from genetic correlations are often used to prioritize subsequent MR analyses, not all combinations of causal links between sleep traits and obesity have been tested so far. Findings from MR should be interpreted cautiously, as instruments for sleep traits often explain only <1% of variance in sleep phenotypes. Also, despite sensitivity analyses, there is always the possibility of various MR violations, including horizontal pleiotropy (26).

Sleep Disorders and Obesity

Except for insomnia, genetic evidence for the link between sleep disorders and obesity is limited because there are few large-scale genetic studies of sleep disorders. As described above, there is evidence of positive genetic correlations and causal effects of insomnia on adiposity. Family-and twin-based studies provide some insight into the genetic link between OSA and insomnia and obesity. Obesity is a well-recognized risk factor for OSA (59). For every 10 kg of weight gain, OSA incidence is estimated to increase sixfold (59). In support of this relationship are findings from linkage analyses of European Americans adults from the Cleveland Family Study implicating loci at 6q23-25 and 10q24-25 in both apnea–hypopnea index and BMI (70). The two loci identified for OSA-related traits in GWASs retained significance after BMI adjustment, suggesting that their influence on OSA risk is independent of obesity (10). Other genes are also expected to be shared between OSA and obesity. Indeed, all BMI-increasing alleles are partly considered potential risk factors for OSA (100). So far, no genetic evidence supports the link between RLS or narcolepsy and obesity.

GENE-SLEEP INTERACTION STUDIES OF OBESITY

The Role of Gene-Environment Interactions in Precision Medicine

Susceptibility to chronic diseases, including obesity, is often determined by the interplay between genetic and environmental risk factors (41). Emerging evidence from gene–environment interactions suggests that genetic predispositions to heritable chronic diseases are not entirely deterministic of disease onset and instead may be modified, either attenuated or accentuated, by environmental exposure (41). For example, adhering to a favorable lifestyle may attenuate genetic risk conferred by variants robustly associated with heart disease (61). Gene–environment interactions also contribute to varying biological responses to environmental exposures based on genetics (8).

Strong indication of the presence of gene–environment interactions for obesity comes from the observation that the magnitude of the association between genetic risk for obesity and obesity is stronger in more recent years, in the presence of a more obesogenic environment, than in earlier years (127). Considering metabolic alterations driven by sleep restriction (15), it is possible that unfavorable sleep may increase genetic influences on obesity, and conversely, it is also possible



Simulated associations between genetic risk for obesity and BMI outcome in individuals with unfavorable sleep (*red bars*) and individuals with favorable sleep (*blue bars*) in the presence of gene–environment interactions (e.g., obesity genetics × sleep behavior). The interaction indicates that favorable sleep may suppress genetic influences of obesity on BMI, whereas unfavorable sleep may exacerbate genetic influences of obesity on BMI. Favorable sleep may encompass measures of sleep quantity, quality, and timing. Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index.

that favorable sleep may suppress genetic influences on obesity (see **Figure 7**). Disentangling the precise interplay between genetic risk for obesity and sleep parameters may then be leveraged to emphasize the critical role of sleep, particularly among the most genetically vulnerable (41).

Studies of Gene-Sleep Interaction in Adults

Initial investigations of gene-sleep interactions focused primarily on individual core clock genes and other circadian-related loci implicated in both sleep and obesity (119). For example, in a large meta-analysis by the CHARGE consortium, nominal evidence of gene-sleep interaction between *MTNR1B*-rs1387153 and sleep duration was observed for BMI (22). The interaction suggested that, only in the presence of the diabetes-associated T allele, short (<7 h) and long (\geq 9 h) sleep durations were associated with a higher BMI of 0.25 kg/m² and 0.60 kg/m², respectively, compared with normal sleep duration. In a study of obese adults, a significant interaction between *CLOCK*rs1801260 and chronotype was identified for body weight, indicating that, among carriers of the C allele (an allele associated with less robust circadian rhythms), having an evening preference was associated with higher body weight compared with having a morning preference (107).

Gene–environment interaction studies have also considered interactions of sleep with polygenic scores for obesity. In an analysis of 119,859 adults of European ancestry from the UK Biobank, self-reported sleep traits, including short sleep duration (<7 h), long sleep duration (>9 h), daytime napping, and evening chronotype, accentuated the effect of the polygenic score for obesity [composed of 93 SNPs identified from GWASs of BMI (75)] on BMI and waist circumference (16). Specifically, among individuals in the highest quartile for the polygenic score for obesity, being a short sleeper was associated with a higher BMI of 0.6 kg/m² and being a long sleeper was associated with a higher BMI of 1.1 kg/m² compared with BMI values of those with normal sleep duration. In contrast, in the lowest genetic quartile, short and long sleep durations were associated with a higher BMI of only ~0.2 kg/m² compared with normal sleep duration. Building on these investigations is a systematic, hypothesis-free gene–environment interaction study examining a polygenic score for obesity composed of 94 BMI-associated variants and 131 lifestyle factors, examined separately, in 362,496 adults of European ancestry from the UK Biobank (103). In total, 15 lifestyle traits interacted with the polygenic score for BMI. Of the examined sleep traits, only daytime napping, but not sleep duration, getting up in the morning, chronotype, or daytime dozing, was implicated. For daytime napping, stronger genetic effects of BMI were evident in the group that reported taking a nap during the day compared with the group that did not take a nap. Furthermore, among the 94 BMI-associated variants that were examined separately, FLJ30838-rs1016287 interacted with daytime napping. Reproducibility of these effects of genesleep interactions on BMI from the UK Biobank in independent cohorts and validation using objective assessments of sleep are necessary to confirm these findings.

Lifestyle factors, including sleep traits themselves, are highly correlated, and it is possible that interactions with one factor might not be specific to the tested trait but rather to a marker of an overall obesogenic lifestyle (123). In recognizing that environmental risk factors are highly correlated, Young et al. (139) used joint modeling to examine simultaneously the interactions between the obesity-associated *FTO* variant and lifestyle factors (e.g., sleep duration, alcohol consumption, smoking status). The observed interaction with sleep duration suggested a 0.13% greater effect of the obesity variant with each standard deviation from the mean sleep duration per *FTO* risk allele. No interaction was evident with sleep duration modeled continuously. The enhanced effect of *FTO* on BMI as a result of deviating from mean sleep duration is likely not confounded by other correlated lifestyle traits, such as smoking or TV watching, because of the joint modeling approach.

Gene–environment interaction studies examining sleep parameters besides duration, such as chronotype and insomnia, and cardiometabolic outcomes other than obesity, such as glucose levels, remain few and largely null (21, 25, 48, 96, 120).

Studies of Gene-Sleep Interaction in Children

The effects of gene-sleep interaction on obesity in children have been examined to devise strategies to target obesity in early life. In a cohort of Chinese children, a polygenic score composed of six leptin-related loci showed interaction with sleep duration, whereby the score was associated with a higher BMI of 0.72 kg/m² in participants reporting \leq 7 h of sleep per night compared with other durations (34). Similarly, a polygenic score composed of common obesity variants in *FTO*, *TMEM18*, and *NRXN3* had a greater negative association with body weight among short sleepers (102). Specifically, in genetically susceptible children, a self-reported 2-h-shorter sleep per night was associated with a BMI higher than 1 standard deviation and an 8-cm-higher waist circumference. In another cohort of children in New Zealand, among 30 tested circadian-related genes, nominal interactions with actigraphic sleep duration were evident between *CLOCK*-rs4864548, *PEMT*-rs936108, and *GHRELIN*-rs696217 and BMI (65). In adolescents, no interactions between self-reported sleep duration and *FTO*-rs9939609 for obesity were observed (54).

Uncovering Missing Heritability of Obesity with Gene-Sleep Interaction Studies

Studying gene–environment interactions can also unravel missing heritability of obesity that is not currently explained by common variants from GWASs (80). The influence of sleep on BMI heritability is suggested in a classical study of twins in the United States. In a cohort of 1,088 adult twin pairs, the heritability of BMI was more than twice as large when sleep duration was <7 h ($b^2 = 70\%$) compared with when sleep duration was ≥ 9 h ($b^2 = 32\%$) (131). This observation

suggests that the proportion of variance in BMI explained by genetics may be modified by sleep duration and that accounting for sleep duration may reveal novel genetic contributors to BMI. Genome-wide interaction analysis accounting for the effect of sleep on obesity has not yet been conducted; however, a comparable study of blood lipid outcomes (93) suggests promising results. The genome-wide gene–sleep duration interaction study by the CHARGE consortium tested whether short and long sleep durations modify the effects of genetic loci associations on blood lipids (93). By systematically accounting for potential gene-sleep interactions, researchers identified 49 loci previously unreported in relation to lipid traits, including 3 BMI loci, *FHIT*, *MAGI2*, and *KLH3*, and 3 sleep-related loci, *MAGI2*, *TMEM132B*, and *EPHB1*.

Current Limitations of and Future Considerations for Gene-Sleep Interaction Studies

There are some important limitations regarding published gene-sleep interaction studies. Genetic interactions with sleep have focused primarily on obesity- and circadian-related genes, but interactions for other variants and at the epigenetic level may also exist (15). In addition, whereas polygenic scores for obesity explain large variance in BMI compared with individual genetic variants, aggregating variants into a score assumes that the interaction effect of the BMI-increasing alleles is consistently in the same direction, which may not be the case (103). Thus, it is prudent to also test variants separately in sensitivity analyses. Sleep duration remains the most commonly tested sleep parameter in gene-sleep interaction studies, but findings for duration must be cautiously interpreted, as they may be related to another correlated sleep trait or to a proxy of an overall obesogenic environment (123). In addition to inadequate sleep, an obesogenic environment is further characterized by poor nutrition, sedentary behavior, and smoking. Examining these behaviors in aggregate is possible with a composite environmental score, as has been previously conducted (61). Large biobanks, such as the UK Biobank, provide access to individual-level data, which enables multiple environmental exposures to be considered (139). The joint and standardized assessment of lifestyle and genetics in hundreds of thousands of participants from these biobanks also limits heterogeneity that may occur when aggregating data from smaller heterogeneous studies. Due to the cross-sectional nature of most gene-environment interaction studies, causality cannot be inferred and change in obesity in response to modified sleep behavior cannot be implied (76). Replicable evidence for gene-environment interactions, as has been shown for physical activity and sugar-sweetened beverages, remains missing for sleep (46). Thus, continued evaluation of population-based biobanks and other data sources, including electronic health records as well as randomized clinical trials, is necessary.

Nonetheless, the importance of studying gene–environment interactions is well recognized (46). Gene–environment interactions exist for obesity, and identifying them can potentially improve risk assessment for obesity and opportunities for personalized health interventions. There exists ample evidence from studies of children and adults that suggests the particular importance of achieving favorable sleep in individuals genetically predisposed to obesity. Whether targeting sleep alone in personalized medicine will yield a sizeable and clinically meaningful improvement in weight remains unknown. More importantly, sleep should instead be considered in assessments of obesogenic behaviors in gene–environment interactions. Moreover, because genetics have a lifelong cumulative effect, public health strategies that promote a healthy lifestyle, including favorable sleep, should be pursued irrespective of age and presence of comorbidity (17). Assessment of interactions in children and adolescents is also pertinent to determine whether inadequate sleep in early life may have a long-term adverse impact on genetically susceptible individuals (34). In addition, continued evaluation of gene–environment interactions may further define mechanistic pathways linking sleep to obesity (50).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

A series of important methodological and conceptual considerations, some of which are also relevant for nongenetic sleep studies (36), should be taken into account to further our knowledge of the precise link between sleep and obesity through genetics.

Multidimensional Sleep Phenotyping

Despite the multidimensional nature of sleep, self-reported habitual sleep duration remains the most commonly surveyed and investigated sleep variable in genetic studies—in both GWASs and gene–environment interaction analyses. Sleep duration can easily be obtained through a single-question survey and is relatively easy to harmonize and standardize across large cohorts. Considering alternative assessments such as bed and wake times allows further investigation of important yet often unexamined sleep variables such as timing and weekly variability (19). As with most self-reported data, responses to questions about sleep are susceptible to reporting and recall biases and prone to imprecision due to rounding (e.g., 8 h instead of 8.2 h) (51, 52). Therefore, consideration of objective measures of sleep such as actigraphy or polysomnography is necessary to limit bias and capture multiple sleep dimensions, including quality.

Wearable technology, including research-grade accelerometers and actigraphy, continues to be a viable option for precise and long-term sleep phenotyping (58). As self-report measures only moderately correlate with objective sleep measures (132), objectively derived sleep measures may exhibit unique links to adiposity (23). Accelerometer data are available from only one-fifth of the UK Biobank likely due to increased participant burden. Accelerometer-derived sleep measures are also subject to various inaccuracies. For example, sleep duration may be overestimated in patients with insomnia with extended sedentary time in bed (19). Although polysomnography continues to be regarded as the gold standard for quantifying sleep, it remains impractical to conduct on a large scale, particularly for robust GWASs.

In addition, sleep phenotyping is often limited to a single assessment. Repeated measures are necessary to determine the duration of exposure and stability of sleep over time, especially in relation to obesity trajectory. Thus, future work using a composite, multidimensional sleep score via self-report or objective measures of sleep may reconcile discrepancies in findings regarding the link between sleep and obesity.

Unraveling Subtypes of Sleep Architecture and Heterogeneity in Sleep Disorders

Novel clustering analyses have indicated mechanistic subtypes and biological heterogeneity contributing to sleep phenotypes. For example, clustering of the 42 loci identified for daytime sleepiness revealed two subtypes for daytime sleepiness: one for sleep propensity and the other for sleep fragmentation (128). It is possible that these subtypes may have distinct clinical phenotypes and vary in their association with obesity. Indeed, for daytime napping, only two of the three identified genetic clusters (disrupted sleep and early sleep timing but not sleep propensity) were associated with higher adiposity (20). Heterogeneity is also detected in common diseases such as type 2 diabetes (124). Thus, examining genetic heterogeneity for sleep disorders such as OSA may indicate subtype-specific associations with obesity.

Acute versus Chronic Effects of Sleep on Obesity

The described genetic link between sleep and obesity from GWASs is largely related to chronic and long-term changes in sleep, such as long-term preference for daytime napping. These chronic

effects may not apply to acute changes in sleep. Indeed, human experimental studies have shown that short-term alterations in sleep, such as 5 nights of sleep restriction and deprivation, incur changes in appetite hormones and food consumption, which may subsequently alter weight regulation (63). Acute changes in sleep also contribute to changes in epigenetics and expression profiles of circadian clock genes (113) and other metabolic pathways (134) across multiple tissues (15). The genetics of metabolite signatures of sleep restriction—small molecules that fluctuate with acute changes in sleep patterns—may be leveraged to provide insight into how acute changes in sleep may affect adiposity in the short term (73).

Advancing Toward Precision Medicine

Precision medicine aims to prevent, treat, and manage diseases, including obesity, through targeted therapies by recognizing fundamental differences among individuals (3). The premise of precision medicine is that there is no one-size-fits-all for sleep needs and that sleep recommendations cannot be applied broadly to the entire population.

With the exception of a handful of recent studies (48, 92), most genetic studies of sleep have been conducted primarily on older adults of European ancestry. Large-scale genome-wide efforts in diverse populations are necessary to advance genetic discoveries and reduce health disparities (135). First, sleep architecture and sleep needs vary across populations, races, and ethnicities, and therefore genetic contribution may vary accordingly (19). For example, the average sleep duration in the Taiwan Biobank, a cohort of Chinese adults, of 6.6 h is almost 0.5 h longer than the average sleep duration in cohorts of European ancestry, such as in the UK Biobank (23, 48). Second, minority populations are disproportionately burdened by sleep disturbance and obesity, and thus a Eurocentric approach to genetics research may exacerbate health inequality (83). Last, effect sizes of sleep- and adiposity-related loci may be ancestry specific due to varying genetic frequencies and differences in linkage. Emphasizing diverse ancestries may contribute to key insights into heterogeneous, ancestry-specific sleep-obesity links.

Sleep patterns, needs, and recommendations change with age and health status; thus, the relationship between sleep and obesity may evolve over the life course. Whereas both *FTO* and a polygenic score for obesity derived from a GWAS of adults conferred higher risk for obesity in childhood (33, 60), most sleep variants from GWASs appear to be age specific. Indeed, data suggest distinct genetic architectures for sleep in children and adults, as evidenced by null correlations in the genetics of sleep duration between children and adults and by the smaller effect estimates of sleep duration variants from an adult GWAS in children and adolescents (23, 82). Most genetic findings for sleep are from analyses of participants from the UK Biobank, a population biased toward participants of higher socioeconomic status and with lower BMI. Alternative data sources, including electronic health record clinical biobanks, should be considered in order to further investigate the role of sleep in adiposity in patient populations (19). Reexamining the relationship between sleep and obesity across the life course may elucidate age- and health-specific variants (72).

Diversifying efforts in terms of ancestry and age, which is crucial to delineate personalized approaches to obesity prevention and treatment, may be possible with the *All of Us* Research Program (https://allofus.nih.gov/about) (3). The large and long-term initiative from the National Institutes of Health is a historic effort to collect and study data from one million or more people living in the United States. The program began enrollment in 2018 and is expected to last at least 10 years. Such a study design will allow a more definitive understanding of sleep loci across diverse populations.

The link between sleep and obesity may also be sex specific. Sex effects are likely because of marked sex differences in (a) sleep traits and sleep disorders, including snoring and OSA;

(*b*) adipocyte gene expression profiles and fat distribution driven partly by sex hormones; and (*c*) dimorphism in expression of clock genes (38). Some GWASs have systematically investigated the effects of biological sex on sleep and obesity genetics. In summary, 2 loci for both snoring (12) and daytime sleepiness (128), 1 locus for daytime napping (20), and 13 loci for insomnia (67) showed differential associations between men and women. Genetic correlations between men and women for insomnia symptoms ranged from 0.81 to 0.92, further supporting the hypothesis that associations between insomnia symptoms and adiposity differ between sexes. On the contrary, little evidence for sexual dimorphism in sleep duration and BMI was observed (75). Genetic correlation between men and women for sleep duration was 0.99 (30, 53, 67). Also, X-chromosomal analyses have not been systematically considered in GWASs. Continued evaluation of sex-specific genetic predictors of sleep is necessary to determine distinct genetic predictors of sleep for men and women (129).

Other considerations are necessary to advance toward precision medicine. Refining the genetic determinants of sleep and obesity through recent advances in genomics, including whole-genome sequencing, consideration of rare and structural variation, and functional analyses is imperative to clarify causal variants, particularly those from findings mapped to large genomic regions with many genes. Continued evaluation of the genetic interplay governing both sleep and metabolism can also unravel molecular targets that can effectively regulate both sleep and metabolism (4). Thus, the incorporation of multi-omics measures, including metabolomics, will be of great value to further establish the relationship between sleep and obesity.

CONCLUSIONS

Epidemiological studies suggest associations between sleep and obesity; however, they are often limited in scope and may be prone to various biases and confounding. Recent advancements in elucidating the genetic architecture of sleep traits and sleep disorders and obesity further our knowledge regarding their relationships. All sleep traits and sleep disorders are heritable, and their distinct genetic underpinnings have been unraveled in recent large-scale GWASs, primarily from studies of adults of European ancestry from the UK Biobank.

Despite the considerable involvement of the circadian clock in sleep and metabolism, few shared genes, including FTO, were implicated in GWASs of sleep and obesity. Furthermore, polygenic scores composed of signals from GWASs of sleep traits show null associations with obesity. Overall, signals for sleep are distinct and independent of BMI. The modest genome-wide genetic correlations between sleep and obesity may be attributed to extensive pleiotropy in SNPs weakly associated with both traits rather than to GWAS signals. Findings from MR suggest robust causal effects of insomnia on higher BMI and conversely of higher BMI on snoring and daytime sleepiness. In addition, bidirectional effects between sleep duration and daytime napping with obesity may also exist. Genetic evidence suggests that the association of sleep with obesity may be stronger in children and in adult clinical populations, and further studies are warranted. Thorough investigations of the genetic link between sleep disorders and obesity are limited by the number of identified loci and public availability of summary statistics for OSA, RLS, and narcolepsy. Genesleep interaction studies suggest that achieving favorable sleep, as part of a healthy lifestyle, may attenuate genetic predisposition to obesity. Whether favorable sleep will yield clinically meaningful improvements in BMI among those at high genetic risk for obesity remains to be elucidated in longitudinal studies. Furthermore, interaction analyses suggest that accounting for sleep in future BMI genetic analyses, and vice versa, may unravel novel loci and explain missing heritability. Genetic studies of sleep are disproportionately conducted on adults of European ancestry, and future studies must consider other ancestries, sex-specific analyses, and age groups across the life span. In addition, future genetic studies should consider objectively derived multidimensional sleep phenotyping, incorporation of sleep quality measures, and genetic estimates of acute alterations in sleep.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

LITERATURE CITED

- Allebrandt KV, Amin N, Müller-Myhsok B, Esko T, Teder-Laving M, et al. 2013. A K_{ATP} channel gene effect on sleep duration: from genome-wide association studies to function in *Drosophila*. *Mol. Psychiatry* 18(1):122–32
- 2. Allebrandt KV, Teder-Laving M, Akyol M, Pichler I, Müller-Myhsok B, et al. 2010. CLOCK gene variants associate with sleep duration in two independent populations. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67(11):1040–47
- 3. Ashley EA. 2015. The precision medicine initiative: a new national effort. JAMA 313(21):2119-20
- 4. Banerjee S, Wang Y, Solt LA, Griffett K, Kazantzis M, et al. 2014. Pharmacological targeting of the mammalian clock regulates sleep architecture and emotional behaviour. *Nat. Commun.* 5:5759
- Barnes CM, Drake CL. 2015. Prioritizing sleep health: public health policy recommendations. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 10(6):733–37
- 6. Bell CG, Walley AJ, Froguel P. 2005. The genetics of human obesity. Nat. Rev. Genet. 6(3):221-34
- Bouchard C. 2008. Gene–environment interactions in the etiology of obesity: defining the fundamentals. Obesity 16(Suppl. 3):S5–10
- Bouchard C, Tremblay A, Després JP, Nadeau A, Lupien PJ, et al. 1990. The response to long-term overfeeding in identical twins. N. Engl. J. Med. 322(21):1477–82
- 9. Buhr ED, Takahashi JS. 2013. Molecular components of the mammalian circadian clock. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 2013(217):3–27
- Cade BE, Chen H, Stilp AM, Gleason KJ, Sofer T, et al. 2016. Genetic associations with obstructive sleep apnea traits in Hispanic/Latino Americans. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 194(7):886–97
- Campbell SS, Tobler I. 1984. Animal sleep: a review of sleep duration across phylogeny. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 8(3):269–300
- Campos AI, García-Marín LM, Byrne EM, Martin NG, Cuéllar-Partida G, Rentería ME. 2020. Insights into the aetiology of snoring from observational and genetic investigations in the UK Biobank. *Nat. Commun.* 11(1):817
- Cappuccio FP, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, Miller MA. 2010. Quantity and quality of sleep and incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 33(2):414–20
- 14. Cappuccio FP, Taggart FM, Kandala N-B, Currie A, Peile E, et al. 2008. Meta-analysis of short sleep duration and obesity in children and adults. *Sleep* 31(5):619–26
- Cedernaes J, Osler ME, Voisin S, Broman JE, Vogel H, et al. 2015. Acute sleep loss induces tissuespecific epigenetic and transcriptional alterations to circadian clock genes in men. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 100(9):E1255–61
- Celis-Morales C, Lyall DM, Guo Y, Steell L, Llanas D, et al. 2017. Sleep characteristics modify the association of genetic predisposition with obesity and anthropometric measurements in 119,679 UK Biobank participants. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 105(4):980–90
- Chudasama YV, Khunti K, Gillies CL, Dhalwani NN, Davies MJ, et al. 2020. Healthy lifestyle and life expectancy in people with multimorbidity in the UK Biobank: a longitudinal cohort study. *PLOS Med.* 17(9):e1003332
- Daghlas I, Dashti HS, Lane J, Aragam KG, Rutter MK, et al. 2019. Sleep duration and myocardial infarction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 74(10):1304–14
- 19. Dashti HS, Cade BE, Stutaite G, Saxena R, Redline S, Karlson EW. 2020. Sleep health, diseases, and pain syndromes: findings from an electronic health record biobank. *Sleep* 2020:zsaa189

- 20. Dashti HS, Daghlas I, Lane JM, Huang Y, Udler MS, et al. 2021. Genetic determinants of daytime napping and effects on cardiometabolic health. *Nat. Commun.* 12(1):900
- Dashti HS, Follis JL, Smith CE, Tanaka T, Cade BE, et al. 2015. Habitual sleep duration is associated with BMI and macronutrient intake and may be modified by CLOCK genetic variants. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 101(1):135–43
- 22. Dashti HS, Follis JL, Smith CE, Tanaka T, Garaulet M, et al. 2015. Gene-environment interactions of circadian-related genes for cardiometabolic traits. *Diabetes Care* 38(8):1456–66
- Dashti HS, Jones SE, Wood AR, Lane JM, van Hees VT, et al. 2019. Genome-wide association study identifies genetic loci for self-reported habitual sleep duration supported by accelerometer-derived estimates. *Nat. Commun.* 10(1):1100
- 24. Dashti HS, Redline S, Saxena R. 2019. Polygenic risk score identifies associations between sleep duration and diseases determined from an electronic medical record biobank. *Sleep* 42(3):zsy247
- Dashti HS, Vetter C, Lane JM, Smith MC, Wood AR, et al. 2019. Assessment of *MTNR1B* type 2 diabetes genetic risk modification by shift work and morningness-eveningness preference in the UK Biobank. *Diabetes* 69(2):259–66
- Davies NM, Holmes MV, Davey Smith G. 2018. Reading Mendelian randomisation studies: a guide, glossary, and checklist for clinicians. *BMJ* 362:k601
- 27. Davis KF, Parker KP, Montgomery GL. 2004. Sleep in infants and young children. Part one: normal sleep. *J. Pediatr: Heal. Care* 18(2):65–71
- de Castro JM. 2002. The influence of heredity on self-reported sleep patterns in free-living humans. *Physiol. Behav.* 76(4–5):479–86
- 29. Deacon-Crouch M, Begg S, Skinner T. 2020. Is sleep duration associated with overweight/obesity in indigenous Australian adults? *BMC Public Health* 20(1):1229
- Doherty A, Smith-Byrne K, Ferreira T, Holmes MV, Holmes C, et al. 2018. GWAS identifies 14 loci for device-measured physical activity and sleep duration. *Nat. Commun.* 9(1):5257
- Duncan LE, Shen H, Ballon JS, Hardy KV, Noordsy DL, Levinson DF. 2018. Genetic correlation profile of schizophrenia mirrors epidemiological results and suggests link between polygenic and rare variant (22q11.2) cases of schizophrenia. *Schizophr: Bull.* 44(6):1350–61
- 32. Elks CE, den Hoed M, Zhao JH, Sharp SJ, Wareham NJ, et al. 2012. Variability in the heritability of body mass index: a systematic review and meta-regression. *Front. Endocrinol.* 3:29
- Frayling TM, Timpson NJ, Weedon MN, Zeggini E, Freathy RM, et al. 2007. A common variant in the *FTO* gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. *Science* 316(5826):889–94
- Fu J, Wang Y, Li G, Han L, Li Y, et al. 2019. Childhood sleep duration modifies the polygenic risk for obesity in youth through leptin pathway: the Beijing Child and Adolescent Metabolic Syndrome cohort study. *Int. J. Obes.* 43(8):1556–67
- Garaulet M, Sánchez-Moreno C, Smith CE, Lee Y-C, Nicolás F, Ordovás JM. 2011. Ghrelin, sleep reduction and evening preference: relationships to CLOCK 3111 T/C SNP and weight loss. *PLOS* ONE 6(2):e17435
- 36. Garfield V. 2019. The association between body mass index (BMI) and sleep duration: Where are we after nearly two decades of epidemiological research? *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16(22):4327
- 37. Genderson MR, Rana BK, Panizzon MS, Grant MD, Toomey R, et al. 2013. Genetic and environmental influences on sleep quality in middle-aged men: a twin study. *J. Sleep Res.* 22(5):519–26
- Gómez-Abellán P, Madrid JA, Luján JA, Frutos MD, González R, et al. 2012. Sexual dimorphism in clock genes expression in human adipose tissue. *Obes. Surg.* 22(1):105–12
- Gottlieb DJ, Hek K, Chen T-H, Watson NF, Eiriksdottir G, et al. 2015. Novel loci associated with usual sleep duration: the CHARGE consortium genome-wide association study. *Mol. Psychiatry* 20(10):1232– 39
- Gottlieb DJ, O'Connor GT, Wilk JB. 2007. Genome-wide association of sleep and circadian phenotypes. BMC Med. Genet. 8(Suppl. 1):S9
- Guasch-Ferré M, Dashti HS, Merino J. 2018. Nutritional genomics and direct-to-consumer genetic testing: an overview. Adv. Nutr. 9(2):128–35

- Hallmayer J, Faraco J, Lin L, Hesselson S, Winkelmann J, et al. 2009. Narcolepsy is strongly associated with the T-cell receptor alpha locus. *Nat. Genet.* 41(6):708–11
- Hammerschlag AR, Stringer S, De Leeuw CA, Sniekers S, Taskesen E, et al. 2017. Genome-wide association analysis of insomnia complaints identifies risk genes and genetic overlap with psychiatric and metabolic traits. *Nat. Genet.* 49(11):1584–92
- Hardaway JA, Halladay LR, Mazzone CM, Pati D, Bloodgood DW, et al. 2019. Central amygdala prepronociceptin-expressing neurons mediate palatable food consumption and reward. *Neuron* 102(5):1037–52.e7
- He Y, Jones CR, Fujiki N, Xu Y, Guo B, et al. 2009. The transcriptional repressor DEC2 regulates sleep length in mammals. *Science* 325(5942):866–70
- 46. Heianza Y, Qi L. 2017. Gene-diet interaction and precision nutrition in obesity. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18(4):787
- Hirshkowitz M, Whiton K, Albert SM, Alessi C, Bruni O, et al. 2015. National Sleep Foundation's updated sleep duration recommendations: final report. *Sleep Heal*. 1(4):233–43
- 48. Hou S-J, Tsai S-J, Kuo P-H, Liu Y-L, Yang AC, et al. 2020. An association study in the Taiwan Biobank reveals *RORA* as a novel locus for sleep duration in the Taiwanese population. *Sleep Med.* 73:70–75
- Hu Y, Shmygelska A, Tran D, Eriksson N, Tung JY, Hinds DA. 2016. GWAS of 89,283 individuals identifies genetic variants associated with self-reporting of being a morning person. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10448
- 50. Hunter DJ. 2005. Gene-environment interactions in human diseases. Nat. Rev. Genet. 6(4):287-98
- Jackson CL, Patel SR, Jackson WB, Lutsey PL, Redline S. 2018. Agreement between self-reported and objectively measured sleep duration among white, black, Hispanic, and Chinese adults in the United States: multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Sleep* 41(6):zsy057
- Jackson CL, Ward JB, Johnson DA, Sims M, Wilson J, Redline S. 2020. Concordance between selfreported and actigraphy-assessed sleep duration among African-American adults: findings from the Jackson Heart Sleep Study. Sleep 43(3):zsz246
- 53. Jansen PR, Watanabe K, Stringer S, Skene N, Bryois J, et al. 2019. Genome-wide analysis of insomnia in 1,331,010 individuals identifies new risk loci and functional pathways. *Nat. Genet.* 51(3):394–403
- Jiang Y, Mei H, Lin Q, Wang J, Liu S, et al. 2019. Interaction effects of FTO rs9939609 polymorphism and lifestyle factors on obesity indices in early adolescence. Obes. Res. Clin. Pract. 13(4):352–57
- 55. Joiner WJ. 2016. Unraveling the evolutionary determinants of sleep. Curr. Biol. 26(20):R1073-87
- Jones SE, Lane JM, Wood AR, van Hees VT, Tyrrell J, et al. 2019. Genome-wide association analyses of chronotype in 697,828 individuals provides insights into circadian rhythms. *Nat. Commun.* 10(1):343
- Jones SE, Tyrrell J, Wood AR, Beaumont RN, Ruth KS, et al. 2016. Genome-wide association analyses in 128,266 individuals identifies new morningness and sleep duration loci. *PLOS Genet.* 12(8):e1006125
- Jones SE, van Hees VT, Mazzotti DR, Marques-Vidal P, Sabia S, et al. 2019. Genetic studies of accelerometer-based sleep measures yield new insights into human sleep behaviour. *Nat. Commun.* 10(1):1585
- Kent BD, Ryan S, McNicholas WT. 2010. The genetics of obstructive sleep apnoea. Curr. Opin Pulm. Med. 16(6):536–42
- Khera AV, Chaffin M, Wade KH, Zahid S, Brancale J, et al. 2019. Polygenic prediction of weight and obesity trajectories from birth to adulthood. *Cell* 177(3):587–96.e9
- Khera AV, Emdin CA, Kathiresan S. 2017. Genetic risk, lifestyle, and coronary artery disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 376(12):1192–95
- Khoury S, Wang Q-P, Parisien M, Gris P, Bortsov AV, et al. 2020. Multi-ethnic GWAS and metaanalysis of sleep quality identify MPP6 as a novel gene that functions in sleep center neurons. *Sleep* 2020:zsaa211
- Knutson KL, Spiegel K, Penev P, Van Cauter E. 2007. The metabolic consequences of sleep deprivation. Sleep Med. Rev. 11(3):163–78
- Kripke DF, Kline LE, Nievergelt CM, Murray SS, Shadan FF, et al. 2015. Genetic variants associated with sleep disorders. *Sleep Med.* 16(2):217–24
- 65. Krishnan M, Shelling AN, Wall CR, Mitchell EA, Murphy R, et al. 2017. Gene-by-environment interactions of the CLOCK, PEMT, and GHRELIN loci with average sleep duration in relation to obesity traits using a cohort of 643 New Zealand European children. Sleep Med. 37:19–26

- Krueger JM, Frank MG, Wisor JP, Roy S. 2016. Sleep function: toward elucidating an enigma. Sleep Med. Rev. 28:46–54
- Lane JM, Jones SE, Dashti HS, Wood AR, Aragam KG, et al. 2019. Biological and clinical insights from genetics of insomnia symptoms. *Nat. Genet.* 51(3):387–93
- 68. Lane JM, Liang J, Vlasac I, Anderson SG, Bechtold DA, et al. 2017. Genome-wide association analyses of sleep disturbance traits identify new loci and highlight shared genetics with neuropsychiatric and metabolic traits. *Nat. Genet.* 49(2):274–81
- Lane JM, Vlasac I, Anderson SG, Kyle SD, Dixon WG, et al. 2016. Genome-wide association analysis identifies novel loci for chronotype in 100,420 individuals from the UK Biobank. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10889
- Larkin EK, Patel SR, Elston RC, Gray-McGuire C, Zhu X, Redline S. 2008. Using linkage analysis to identify quantitative trait loci for sleep apnea in relationship to body mass index. *Ann. Hum. Genet.* 72(6):762–73
- Li J, Yang S, Jiao X, Yang Y, Sun H, et al. 2019. Targeted sequencing analysis of the leptin receptor gene identifies variants associated with obstructive sleep apnoea in Chinese Han population. *Lung* 197(5):577– 84
- 72. Lindenberger U, Nagel IE, Chicherio C, Li S-C, Heekeren HR, Bäckman L. 2008. Age-related decline in brain resources modulates genetic effects on cognitive functioning. *Front. Neurosci.* 2(2):234–44
- Liu J, van Klinken JB, Semiz S, van Dijk KW, Verhoeven A, et al. 2017. A Mendelian randomization study of metabolite profiles, fasting glucose, and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 66(11):2915–26
- Liu Y, Wheaton A, Chapman D, Cunningham T, Lu H, Croft J. 2016. Prevalence of healthy sleep duration among adults—United States, 2014. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 65(6):137–41
- Locke AE, Kahali B, Berndt SI, Justice AE, Pers TH, et al. 2015. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. *Nature* 518(7538):197–206
- Loos RJF. 2019. From nutrigenomics to personalizing diets: Are we ready for precision medicine? *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 109(1):1–2
- 77. Loos RJF, Lindgren CM, Li S, Wheeler E, Zhao JH, et al. 2008. Common variants near *MC4R* are associated with fat mass, weight and risk of obesity. *Nat. Genet.* 40(6):768–75
- Loos RJF, Yeo GSH. 2014. The bigger picture of FTO—the first GWAS-identified obesity gene. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 10(1):51–61
- 79. Luyster FS, Strollo PJ Jr., Zee PC, Walsh JK. 2012. Sleep: a health imperative. Sleep 35(6):727-34
- Manolio TA, Collins FS, Cox NJ, Goldstein DB, Hindorff LA, et al. 2009. Finding the missing heritability of complex diseases. *Nature* 461(7265):747–53
- Marin JM, Carrizo SJ, Vicente E, Agusti AGN. 2005. Long-term cardiovascular outcomes in men with obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea with or without treatment with continuous positive airway pressure: an observational study. *Lancet* 365(9464):1046–53
- 82. Marinelli M, Pappa I, Bustamante M, Bonilla C, Suarez A, et al. 2016. Heritability and genome-wide association analyses of sleep duration in children: the EAGLE Consortium. *Sleep* 39(10):1859–69
- 83. Martin AR, Kanai M, Kamatani Y, Okada Y, Neale BM, Daly MJ. 2019. Clinical use of current polygenic risk scores may exacerbate health disparities. *Nat. Genet.* 51(4):584–91
- 84. McArdle N, Ward SV, Bucks RS, Maddison K, Smith A, et al. 2020. The prevalence of common sleep disorders in young adults: a descriptive population-based study. *Sleep* 43(10):zsaa072
- Mei H, Jiang F, Li L, Griswold M, Liu S, Mosley T. 2020. Study of genetic correlation between children's sleep and obesity. *7. Hum. Genet.* 65(11):949–59
- Merino J, Dashti HS, Li SX, Sarnowski C, Justice AE, et al. 2019. Genome-wide meta-analysis of macronutrient intake of 91,114 European ancestry participants from the cohorts for heart and aging research in genomic epidemiology consortium. *Mol. Psychiatry* 24(12):1920–32
- Mishima K, Tozawa T, Satoh K, Saitoh H, Mishima Y. 2005. The 3111T/C polymorphism of *bClock* is associated with evening preference and delayed sleep timing in a Japanese population sample. *Am. J. Med. Genet. Neuropsychiatr: Genet.* 133B(1):101–4
- Miyagawa T, Kawashima M, Nishida N, Ohashi J, Kimura R, et al. 2008. Variant between CPT1B and CHKB associated with susceptibility to narcolepsy. Nat. Genet. 40(11):1324–28
- Mukherjee S, Saxena R, Palmer LJ. 2018. The genetics of obstructive sleep apnoea. *Respirology* 23(1):18– 27

- 90. Murali NS, Svatikova A, Somers VK. 2003. Cardiovascular physiology and sleep. Front. Biosci. 8:s636–52
- Nascimento Ferreira MV, Goumidi L, Carvalho HB, De Moraes ACF, Santaliestra-Pasías AM, et al. 2018. Associations between *REV-ERBα*, sleep duration and body mass index in European adolescents. *Sleep Med.* 46:56–60
- Nishiyama T, Nakatochi M, Goto A, Iwasaki M, Hachiya T, et al. 2019. Genome-wide association metaanalysis and Mendelian randomization analysis confirm the influence of ALDH2 on sleep duration in the Japanese population. *Sleep* 42(6):zsz046
- Noordam R, Bos MM, Wang H, Winkler TW, Bentley AR, et al. 2019. Multi-ancestry sleep-by-SNP interaction analysis in 126,926 individuals reveals lipid loci stratified by sleep duration. *Nat. Commun.* 10(1):5121
- 94. Ogilvie RP, Patel SR. 2017. The epidemiology of sleep and obesity. Sleep Health 3(5):383-88
- Ohayon MM, Carskadon MA, Guilleminault C, Vitiello MV. 2004. Meta-analysis of quantitative sleep parameters from childhood to old age in healthy individuals: developing normative sleep values across the human lifespan. *Sleep* 27(7):1255–73
- Ollila HM, Kronholm E, Kettunen J, Silander K, Perola M, et al. 2016. Insomnia does not mediate or modify the association between *MTNR1B* risk variant rs10830963 and glucose levels. *Diabetologia* 59(5):1070–72
- Ophoff D, Slaats MA, Boudewyns A, Glazemakers I, Van Hoorenbeeck K, Verhulst SL. 2018. Sleep disorders during childhood: a practical review. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 177(5):641–48
- Pallesen S, Sivertsen B, Nordhus IH, Bjorvatn B. 2014. A 10-year trend of insomnia prevalence in the adult Norwegian population. *Sleep Med.* 15(2):173–79
- Partinen M, Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M, Putkonen P, Langinvainio H. 1983. Genetic and environmental determination of human sleep. *Sleep* 6(3):179–85
- Patel SR. 2005. Shared genetic risk factors for obstructive sleep apnea and obesity. J. Appl. Physiol. 99(4):1600–6
- 101. Patel SR, Hu FB. 2008. Short sleep duration and weight gain: a systematic review. Obesity 16(3):643-53
- 102. Prats-Puig A, Grau-Cabrera P, Riera-Pérez E, Cortés-Marina R, Fortea E, et al. 2013. Variations in the obesity genes *FTO*, *TMEM18* and *NRXN3* influence the vulnerability of children to weight gain induced by short sleep duration. *Int. J. Obes.* 37(2):182–87
- Rask-Andersen M, Karlsson T, Ek WE, Johansson Ä. 2017. Gene-environment interaction study for BMI reveals interactions between genetic factors and physical activity, alcohol consumption and socioeconomic status. *PLOS Genet*. 13(9):e1006977
- 104. Redline S, Tishler PV. 2000. The genetics of sleep apnea. Sleep Med. Rev. 4(6):583-602
- 105. Riestra P, Gebreab SY, Xu R, Khan RJ, Gaye A, et al. 2017. Circadian CLOCK gene polymorphisms in relation to sleep patterns and obesity in African Americans: findings from the Jackson Heart Study. BMC Genet. 18(1):58
- Rogers NL, Szuba MP, Staab JP, Evans DL, Dinges DF. 2001. Neuroimmunologic aspects of sleep and sleep loss. Semin. Clin. Neuropsychiatry 6(4):295–307
- Ruiz-Lozano T, Vidal J, De Hollanda A, Canteras M, Garaulet M, Izquierdo-Pulido M. 2016. Evening chronotype associates with obesity in severely obese subjects: interaction with CLOCK 3111T/C. Int. J. Obes. 40(10):1550–57
- Sa J, Choe S, Cho B-Y, Chaput J-P, Kim G, et al. 2020. Relationship between sleep and obesity among U.S. and South Korean college students. *BMC Public Health* 20(1):96
- Schormair B, Zhao C, Bell S, Tilch E, Salminen AV, et al. 2017. Identification of novel risk loci for restless legs syndrome in genome-wide association studies in individuals of European ancestry: a meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* 16(11):898–907
- 110. Scott EM, Carter AM, Grant PJ. 2008. Association between polymorphisms in the *Clock* gene, obesity and the metabolic syndrome in man. *Int. J. Obes.* 32(4):658–62
- 111. Sehgal A, Mignot E. 2011. Genetics of sleep and sleep disorders. Cell 146(2):194-207
- 112. Serretti A, Gaspar-Barba E, Calati R, Cruz-Fuentes CS, Gomez-Sanchez A, et al. 2010. 3111TC CLOCK gene polymorphism is not associated with sleep disturbances in untreated depressed patients. Chronobiol. Int. 27(2):265–77

- 113. Skuladottir GV, Nilsson EK, Mwinyi J, Schiöth HB. 2016. One-night sleep deprivation induces changes in the DNA methylation and serum activity indices of stearoyl-CoA desaturase in young healthy men. *Lipids Health Dis.* 15(1):137
- Sodini SM, Kemper KE, Wray NR, Trzaskowski M. 2018. Comparison of genotypic and phenotypic correlations: Cheverud's conjecture in humans. *Genetics* 209(3):941–48
- 115. Sookoian S, Gemma C, Gianotti TF, Burgueño A, Castaño G, Pirola CJ. 2008. Genetic variants of *Clock* transcription factor are associated with individual susceptibility to obesity. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 87(6):1606–15
- Spada J, Scholz M, Kirsten H, Hensch T, Horn K, et al. 2016. Genome-wide association analysis of actigraphic sleep phenotypes in the LIFE Adult Study. *J. Sleep Res.* 25(6):690–701
- 117. Speliotes EK, Willer CJ, Berndt SI, Monda KL, Thorleifsson G, et al. 2010. Association analyses of 249,796 individuals reveal 18 new loci associated with body mass index. *Nat. Genet.* 42(11):937–48
- 118. Stranges S, Cappuccio FP, Kandala NB, Miller MA, Taggart FM, et al. 2008. Cross-sectional versus prospective associations of sleep duration with changes in relative weight and body fat distribution: the Whitehall II Study. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 167(3):321–29
- 119. Tahira K, Ueno T, Fukuda N, Aoyama T, Tsunemi A, et al. 2011. Obesity alters the expression profile of clock genes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Preliminary results. *Arch. Med. Sci.* 7(6):933–40
- Tare A, Lane JM, Cade BE, Grant SFA, Chen TH, et al. 2014. Sleep duration does not mediate or modify association of common genetic variants with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 57(2):339–46
- 121. Thorleifsson G, Walters GB, Gudbjartsson DF, Steinthorsdottir V, Sulem P, et al. 2009. Genome-wide association yields new sequence variants at seven loci that associate with measures of obesity. *Nat. Genet.* 41(1):18–24
- 122. Turek FW, Joshu C, Kohsaka A, Lin E, Ivanova G, et al. 2005. Obesity and metabolic syndrome in circadian *Clock* mutant mice. *Science* 308(5724):1043–45
- 123. Tyrrell J, Wood AR, Ames RM, Yaghootkar H, Beaumont RN, et al. 2017. Gene-obesogenic environment interactions in the UK Biobank Study. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 46(2):559–75
- 124. Udler MS, Kim J, von Grotthuss M, Bonàs-Guarch S, Cole JB, et al. 2018. Type 2 diabetes genetic loci informed by multi-trait associations point to disease mechanisms and subtypes: a soft clustering analysis. *PLOS Med.* 15(9):e1002654
- 125. Valladares M, Obregón AM, Chaput J-P. 2015. Association between genetic variants of the *clock* gene and obesity and sleep duration. *J. Physiol. Biochem.* 71(4):855–60
- 126. Vera B, Dashti HS, Gómez-Abellán P, Hernández-Martínez AM, Esteban A, et al. 2018. Modifiable lifestyle behaviors, but not a genetic risk score, associate with metabolic syndrome in evening chronotypes. Sci. Rep. 8(1):945
- 127. Walter S, Mejia-Guevara I, Estrada K, Liu SY, Glymour MM. 2016. Association of a genetic risk score with body mass index across different birth cohorts. *JAMA* 316(1):63–69
- Wang H, Lane JM, Jones SE, Dashti HS, Ollila HM, et al. 2019. Genome-wide association analysis of self-reported daytime sleepiness identifies 42 loci that suggest biological subtypes. *Nat. Commun.* 10(1):3503
- 129. Wang J, Li AM, Lam HSHS, Leung GM, Schooling CM. 2019. Sleep duration and adiposity in children and adults: observational and Mendelian randomization studies. *Obesity* 27(6):1013–22
- Watson NF, Buchwald D, Vitiello MV, Noonan C, Goldberg J. 2010. A twin study of sleep duration and body mass index. *J. Clin. Sleep Med.* 6(1):11–17
- 131. Watson NF, Harden KP, Buchwald D, Vitiello MV, Pack AI, et al. 2012. Sleep duration and body mass index in twins: a gene-environment interaction. *Sleep* 35(5):597–603
- 132. Weiss AR, Johnson NL, Berger NA, Redline S. 2010. Validity of activity-based devices to estimate sleep. *J. Clin. Sleep Med.* 6(4):336–42
- 133. Willer CJ, Speliotes EK, Loos RJF, Li S, Lindgren CM, et al. 2009. Six new loci associated with body mass index highlight a neuronal influence on body weight regulation. *Nat. Genet.* 41(1):25–34
- 134. Wilms B, Leineweber EM, Mölle M, Chamorro R, Pommerenke C, et al. 2019. Sleep loss disrupts morning-to-evening differences in human white adipose tissue transcriptome. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 104(5):1687–96

- Wojcik GL, Graff M, Nishimura KK, Tao R, Haessler J, et al. 2019. Genetic analyses of diverse populations improves discovery for complex traits. *Nature* 570(7762):514–18
- Wu Y, Gong Q, Zou Z, Li H, Zhang X. 2017. Short sleep duration and obesity among children: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Obes. Res. Clin. Pract.* 11(2):140–50
- 137. Yengo L, Sidorenko J, Kemper KE, Zheng Z, Wood AR, et al. 2018. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies for height and body mass index in ~700000 individuals of European ancestry. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 27(20):3641–49
- Yin J, Jin X, Shan Z, Li S, Huang H, et al. 2017. Relationship of sleep duration with all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 6(9):e005947
- 139. Young AI, Wauthier F, Donnelly P. 2016. Multiple novel gene-by-environment interactions modify the effect of *FTO* variants on body mass index. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12724
- 140. Zheng J, Erzurumluoglu AM, Elsworth BL, Kemp JP, Howe L, et al. 2017. LD Hub: a centralized database and web interface to perform LD score regression that maximizes the potential of summary level GWAS data for SNP heritability and genetic correlation analysis. *Bioinformatics* 33(2):272–79